Review Article



Rise of Digital Health and Telemedicine in Pharmaceutical Regulation

C A Ansitha^{*1}, Rani K Kuriakose²

¹ORCID ID: 0009-0004-7700-1092,

¹Post Graduate Scholar, Department of Pharmaceutical Regulatory Affairs, Chemists College of Pharmaceutical Sciences & Research (Affiliated with Kerala University of Health Sciences, Thrissur), Varikoli P.O., Puthencruz, Ernakulam 682308, Kerala, India.

²Associate Professor, Department of Pharmaceutics, Chemists College of Pharmaceutical Sciences & Research (Affiliated with Kerala University of Health Sciences, Thrissur), Varikoli P.O., Puthencruz, Ernakulam 682308, Kerala, India.

*Corresponding author's E-mail: anuansitha333@gmail.com

Received: 08-01-2025; Revised: 24-04-2025; Accepted: 02-05-2025; Published online: 15-05-2025.

ABSTRACT

The rapid advancement of digital health technologies and telemedicine has transformed the pharmaceutical and healthcare landscape. Regulatory bodies worldwide are adapting their frameworks to accommodate innovations such as remote patient monitoring, AI-driven diagnostics, and mobile health applications. This review explores how agencies like the FDA, EMA, and WHO are responding to these advancements, addressing regulatory challenges, and ensuring patient safety while fostering innovation. The abstract of this review article provides an overview of how digital health technologies and telemedicine are reshaping the pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors. With advancements such as remote patient monitoring, AI-driven diagnostics, and mobile health applications, regulatory bodies must evolve to ensure safety and efficacy while fostering innovation. Key organizations, including the FDA, EMA, and WHO, are actively updating their regulatory frameworks to address these technological shifts. The adaptation of regulations involves developing new guidelines for Software as a Medical Device (SaMD), AI applications, and cross-border telemedicine. However, challenges such as data privacy, cybersecurity, interoperability, and AI transparency remain pressing concerns. Regulatory bodies are working to create harmonized global standards, establish ethical AI governance, and enhance public-private collaboration to navigate these complexities. This review highlights the need for continuous regulatory evolution to keep pace with emerging digital health solutions. By addressing challenges and implementing adaptive frameworks, regulatory agencies can balance technological innovation with patient safety. The insights provided in this article underscore the importance of regulatory agility in shaping the future of digital healthcare.

Keywords: Digital Health, Telemedicine, FDA, EMA, WHO, Artificial intelligence.

INTRODUCTION

he healthcare industry is experiencing a digital transformation, with digital health technologies and telemedicine emerging as key drivers of change.¹⁻⁸ Digital health includes various innovations such as mobile health applications, wearable devices, telemedicine platforms, artificial intelligence (AI)-powered diagnostics, and remote patient monitoring.9 These technologies are reshaping healthcare delivery by improving patient access, streamlining operations, and enhancing medical outcomes.¹⁰ One of the primary factors fueling the rise of digital health is technological advancement.¹¹ AI, big data analytics, and blockchain are revolutionizing medical practices by enabling personalized treatment, real-time monitoring, and secure data management.¹² Wearable devices and mobile applications empower patients by providing continuous health tracking and personalized recommendations, fostering a proactive approach to healthcare management.¹³

Telemedicine, in particular, has gained widespread acceptance, offering remote consultations that bridge the gap between patients and healthcare providers.¹⁴ This is especially significant for individuals in rural or underserved areas who may have limited access to healthcare facilities.¹⁵ The COVID-19 pandemic played a crucial role in accelerating the adoption of telemedicine, as social distancing measures

and lockdowns made in-person medical visits challenging.¹⁶ Governments and regulatory authorities responded by implementing emergency policies to facilitate the use of telehealth solutions.¹⁷ Some of these temporary measures have since been incorporated into permanent regulations, signaling a shift toward a more digitally integrated healthcare system.¹⁷ Despite its numerous advantages, the rapid proliferation of digital health technologies presents complex regulatory challenges.¹⁸ The integration of Aldriven diagnostics, telemedicine platforms, and mobile health applications into healthcare requires stringent oversight to ensure patient safety, efficacy, and data protection.¹⁹ Regulatory agencies, including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the European Medicines Agency (EMA), and the World Health Organization (WHO), are actively working to refine their regulatory frameworks to accommodate these advancements.²⁰

Key concerns include data privacy and security, interoperability, ethical AI usage, and the validation of AIdriven medical decisions.²¹ Compliance with global data protection regulations such as the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) is crucial for ensuring patient confidentiality and security.²² Additionally, ensuring that digital health solutions meet standardized safety and efficacy benchmarks remains a priority for regulators.²³ As digital health continues to evolve, regulatory frameworks



International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research

must remain flexible and forward-thinking.²⁴ Developing harmonized international standards, fostering publicprivate collaborations, and encouraging adaptive regulatory policies will be essential for supporting innovation while safeguarding public health.²⁵ This review examines how regulatory bodies are responding to digital health advancements, the challenges they face, and potential future directions for ensuring a balanced regulatory approach in the evolving healthcare landscape.²⁶

India has established a comprehensive regulatory framework for telemedicine and digital health, primarily driven by the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare.²¹ The Telemedicine Practice Guidelines, issued in 2020, provide a detailed framework for telemedicine practices, including patient consent, privacy, and data protection.²⁷ The National Medical Commission Act of 2019 and the Information Technology Act of 2000 also play crucial roles in regulating telemedicine and digital health services.²⁷ These regulations ensure that telemedicine practices adhere to ethical standards, protect patient privacy, and maintain the confidentiality of medical records.⁴

In the USA, the regulatory framework for digital health and telemedicine is governed by several federal and state laws.²⁸ The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) ensures the privacy and security of patient data.²⁰ The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) oversees the regulation of digital health technologies, including telemedicine, through various programs such as the Digital Health Software Pre-Certification Program and the Software as a Medical Device (SaMD) framework.⁴ Additionally, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA) regulates medical devices and digital health solutions.²⁸

Europe's regulatory framework for telemedicine and digital health is guided by the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which ensures the protection of personal data across the European Union.²⁹ The Directive on the application of patient rights in cross-border healthcare facilitates the provision of telemedicine services across EU member states.³⁰ Additionally, various countries have their national regulations and guidelines for telemedicine, such as the eHealth Action Plan 2012-2020.³¹

In Asia, the regulatory frameworks for digital health and telemedicine vary across countries.³² The Asia-Pacific Medical Technology Association (APACMed) has been working towards harmonizing digital health regulations across the region.³³ Countries like Japan, China, and Singapore have implemented specific guidelines and regulations to support the growth of telemedicine and digital health services.³⁴

The World Health Organization (WHO) plays a pivotal role in advancing telemedicine and digital health on a global scale.³⁵ Through its Global Strategy on Digital Health 2020-2024, WHO provides a comprehensive roadmap to integrate digital technologies into healthcare systems, aiming to improve health outcomes worldwide.³⁵ WHO promotes standards for interoperability and data sharing, ensuring that digital health solutions can operate seamlessly across different regions and healthcare systems.³⁵

Figure 1 shows the current market size of telemedicine in India, the USA, Europe, Asia, and Globally.³⁶



Figure 1: Market size in 2024

Fig. 2 shows the CGAR% of telemedicine in India, the USA, Europe, Asia, and Globally.³⁶



Figure 2: CGAR in 2024

Fig. 3 shows the market size of telemedicine in India, the USA, Europe, Asia, and Globally in 2030.³⁷



Figure 3: Projected market size in 2030



EVOLUTION OF TELEMEDICINE AND DIGITAL HEALTH:

India

India's journey in telemedicine began in the early 2000s, driven by the need to bridge the urban-rural healthcare divide.³⁸ The Indian Space Research Organisation (ISRO) played a pivotal role by launching telemedicine initiatives that connected rural health centres with specialty hospitals in urban areas.³⁹ The Government of India introduced the National Telemedicine Network (NTN) and initiatives like the eSanjeevani teleconsultation platform to provide remote healthcare services to underserved populations.⁴⁰ The National Digital Health Mission (NDHM), launched in 2020, aimed to create a robust digital health ecosystem by integrating electronic health records (EHRs) and teleconsultations nationwide.⁴¹ The COVID-19 pandemic accelerated the adoption of telemedicine in India, with guidelines issued by the government in 2020 to regulate remote consultations and encourage digital healthcare solutions.²¹ In recent years, India has seen rapid growth in mobile health (mHealth) applications, wearable technologies, and Al-driven healthcare solutions.⁴² Government-backed initiatives like Ayushman Bharat Digital Mission (ABDM) aim to integrate digital health records for seamless patient care across healthcare facilities.43

USA

The USA has been a pioneer in telemedicine and digital health, with early developments dating back to the 1960s.⁴⁴ The NASA Space Technology Applied to Rural Papago Advanced Health Care (STARPAHC) program in the 1970s demonstrated the feasibility of remote medical care using satellite communication.⁴⁵ The 1990s saw the rise of telehealth networks and the implementation of HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act), which ensured secure electronic transmission of health records.⁴

The HITECH Act (2009) incentivized the adoption of electronic health records (EHRs), leading to widespread digitalization in healthcare.⁴⁷ The USA saw rapid growth in mobile health (mHealth) applications, wearable technology, and AI-driven diagnostics during the 2010s.⁴⁸ The COVID-19 pandemic led to policy changes in 2020, allowing greater reimbursement for telehealth services and expanding access to virtual healthcare under the CARES Act.⁴⁹ The American Telemedicine Association (ATA) has played a key role in advocating for the continued expansion of telehealth services post-pandemic.⁵⁰

Europe

Europe has been at the forefront of digital health innovation, with countries like the UK, Germany, and France leading advancements in eHealth, mHealth, and telemedicine regulations.⁵¹ The European Union (EU) eHealth Action Plan (2012-2020) focused on integrating digital technologies into healthcare systems to improve efficiency and patient outcomes.⁵² The UK's National Health Service (NHS) launched the NHS Digital Transformation

Strategy, enabling the widespread adoption of EHRs, telehealth, and AI-driven diagnostics.⁵³ Germany introduced the Digital Healthcare Act (DVG) in 2019, allowing doctors to prescribe digital health applications.⁵⁴ France and Nordic countries have invested in national telemedicine networks, enabling remote consultations and chronic disease management.⁵⁵ The COVID-19 crisis accelerated digital health adoption across Europe, with countries expanding reimbursement policies for telehealth services. The European Health Data Space (EHDS) initiative is set to enhance data sharing and interoperability among healthcare systems across the EU.⁵⁶

Asia

Asia's digital health landscape is diverse, with countries like China, Japan, and South Korea leading in telemedicine innovation.57 China has been a major player in digital health, leveraging AI, big data, and cloud computing for telemedicine services.⁵⁸ The Healthy China 2030 initiative promotes digital health, and companies like Ping An Good Doctor provide AI-driven telehealth services.⁵⁸ Japan has integrated robotic-assisted healthcare and telemedicine into its aging population strategy.⁵⁹ Southeast Asian nations, including Singapore and Malaysia, have embraced digital health policies to enhance healthcare accessibility.⁶⁰ Singapore's Smart Nation initiative promotes AI and IoTdriven healthcare solutions⁶¹, while Malaysia's MyHealth Online portal facilitates digital consultations and electronic medical records.⁶² India, Indonesia, and Vietnam are also seeing increased adoption of digital health technologies, supported by government initiatives and private sector investments.63

REGULATORY RESPONSES TO DIGITAL HEALTH TECHNOLOGIES:

1. United States: FDA Initiatives

The United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has played a pivotal role in shaping the regulatory landscape for digital health technologies. As digital innovations continue to transform healthcare, the FDA has introduced several initiatives to ensure that these technologies meet safety, efficacy, and quality standards while fostering innovation.⁶⁴ The agency has focused on streamlining regulatory pathways, implementing risk-based approaches, and collaborating with stakeholders to refine its digital health oversight framework.⁶⁵ One of the major FDA initiatives is the Digital Health Center of Excellence, established to serve as a centralized hub for digital health policy development and collaboration.⁶⁶ This center guides regulatory frameworks, promotes public-private partnerships, and ensures that digital health products align with patient safety and innovation goals. It plays a crucial role in addressing emerging challenges posed by AI, telemedicine, and wearable devices, ensuring that regulatory policies remain relevant and adaptive. Another critical initiative is the Software as a Medical Device (SaMD) Framework, which establishes clear guidelines for evaluating and approving software-driven medical technologies.⁴ Given the growing



reliance on AI and machine learning in diagnostics and treatment recommendations, the FDA has developed a Precertification Pilot Program aimed at accelerating the approval process for digital health products.⁶⁷ This program assesses software developers rather than individual products, allowing for a more flexible and efficient regulatory approach. By evaluating companies' commitment to quality and continuous improvement, the FDA aims to facilitate the rapid deployment of safe and effective digital health solutions.⁶⁵

Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning (AI/ML) have become integral components of modern healthcare, and the FDA has responded with a dedicated AI/ML Regulatory Framework. This initiative provides guidance on the evaluation and approval of AI-driven medical software, emphasizing transparency, algorithmic explainability, and continuous learning.⁶⁸ Given the dynamic nature of AI, the FDA's approach involves periodic assessments to ensure that AI systems maintain reliability and accuracy over time.⁶⁹ The FDA has also taken significant steps in regulating remote monitoring technologies, which have gained prominence due to the widespread adoption of telehealth and wearable devices. The agency has provided guidelines for the approval of connected medical devices, ensuring that remote patient monitoring tools meet rigorous safety and performance standards.⁷⁰ These regulations have facilitated the integration of digital health solutions into mainstream medical practice, allowing patients to receive real-time health insights from wearable sensors and connected devices. Telemedicine has experienced unprecedented growth, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. The FDA, in collaboration with the Centres for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), has worked to expand telehealth regulations, ensuring long-term support for virtual healthcare services.⁷¹ Policy changes have focused on reimbursement frameworks, licensing requirements, and the integration of digital health technologies into clinical workflows.71

Overall, the FDA's proactive approach to digital health regulation reflects a balance between innovation and patient safety. By implementing adaptive regulatory frameworks, fostering industry collaboration, and continuously refining digital health policies, the FDA is paving the way for a more integrated and technologically advanced healthcare system.⁷² Moving forward, continued investments in digital health infrastructure, harmonized international standards, and ethical AI governance will be essential to sustaining the momentum of digital health transformation in the United States and beyond.⁷³

2. European Union: EMA's Digital Adaptation

The European Medicines Agency (EMA) has played a crucial role in shaping digital health regulations across the European Union (EU). As digital health technologies continue to advance, the EMA has implemented several initiatives to ensure safety, efficacy, and data security while fostering innovation within the region.⁷⁴ One of the cornerstone regulatory frameworks is the Medical Device

Regulation (MDR) and In Vitro Diagnostic Regulation (IVDR). These frameworks establish stringent guidelines for evaluating digital health tools, ensuring they meet safety and efficacy standards before reaching the market. By implementing these regulations, the EMA aims to provide patients with reliable digital health solutions while promoting transparency and accountability among developers.⁷⁵

Another significant initiative is the Guidance on AI and Big Data in Healthcare. With AI playing an increasingly vital role in medical applications, the EMA collaborates with stakeholders to refine policies that govern Al-driven diagnostics and predictive analytics. The goal is to ensure that AI-based healthcare solutions remain ethical, transparent, and effective in clinical settings.⁷⁶ In the realm of telemedicine, the EU Telemedicine Guidelines serve as a framework for member states to adopt harmonized regulations. These guidelines focus on cross-border licensing requirements, healthcare access, and reimbursement models, ensuring patients can receive highquality remote medical care regardless of location. To further advance digital health adoption, the E-Health Network and Digital Health Strategy was introduced. This initiative aims to improve interoperability among digital health systems, allowing seamless data exchange between healthcare providers across the EU.77 By fostering digital connectivity, the EMA enhances healthcare efficiency and promotes patient-centered care. Cybersecurity remains a priority, and the EMA has strengthened cybersecurity regulations to protect digital health ecosystems from cyber threats. These measures include stringent data encryption protocols, cybersecurity risk assessments, and compliance with GDPR standards to safeguard sensitive patient information.78

Overall, the EMA's approach to digital health regulation reflects a commitment to fostering innovation while ensuring robust oversight. By refining regulatory frameworks, encouraging collaboration, and addressing emerging challenges, the EMA is shaping the future of digital healthcare in the European Union.⁷⁹

3. Global Perspective: WHO's Role in Digital Health Regulation

The World Health Organization (WHO) plays a vital role in guiding global digital health regulation. Recognizing the transformative potential of digital health, the WHO has developed key strategies to ensure its safe and effective integration into healthcare systems worldwide.⁸ One of WHO's most significant contributions is the Global Strategy on Digital Health 2020-2025. This framework provides comprehensive guidelines for countries to adopt digital health technologies in a coordinated and structured manner.⁸⁰ The strategy promotes data-driven decision-making, interoperability between digital health systems, and equitable access to healthcare solutions across all regions. It also encourages governments to invest in robust infrastructure, ensuring that digital health services are



widely accessible and efficiently integrated into national healthcare frameworks.³

AI and machine learning are rapidly shaping healthcare, and the WHO has established standards for Ethical AI and Health Data Governance. The organization emphasizes the importance of transparency, accountability, and fairness in AI applications used in medical decision-making.³ To address concerns regarding bias and data integrity, WHO collaborates with global regulatory bodies to develop guidelines that prioritize patient safety and ensure equitable treatment for diverse populations.³ WHO also focuses on Cybersecurity and Data Protection, recognizing that digital health advancements come with heightened risks of data breaches and cyber threats. To mitigate these risks, WHO advocates for stringent encryption protocols, cybersecurity risk assessments, and adherence to international data protection regulations such as GDPR and HIPAA.⁸¹ The organization has further contributed to the Cross-Border Telemedicine Policies, aiming to harmonize international regulations for telehealth. By developing best practices for remote consultations, licensing requirements, and telehealth reimbursement policies, WHO facilitates seamless cross-border healthcare delivery, ensuring that patients receive high-quality medical care regardless of geographic barriers.⁸⁰ As the digital health landscape continues to evolve, WHO remains committed to ensuring that emerging technologies are leveraged to improve global healthcare while safeguarding ethical, legal, and privacy considerations. Through collaborative efforts with national regulatory bodies and private sector stakeholders, the WHO seeks to establish a cohesive and standardized global approach to digital health regulation.⁸

4. Asia-Pacific and Other Regional Regulatory Responses

The Asia-Pacific region has emerged as a key player in the evolution of digital health regulations. Countries such as China, Japan, South Korea, Australia, and India have developed frameworks to address the growing integration of AI, telemedicine, and mobile health applications into their healthcare systems.⁸² In China, the National Medical Products Administration (NMPA) has introduced regulations focusing on AI-based diagnostics and wearable medical devices. The Guidelines for AI Medical Software provide a structured approach to evaluating and approving Al-driven healthcare tools, ensuring that they meet stringent safety and performance criteria before market entry.83 Additionally, China has implemented strict data privacy laws, such as the Personal Information Protection Law (PIPL), to regulate health data usage.⁸⁴ Japan has taken a proactive stance in regulating digital health through the Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency (PMDA). The country has established regulatory pathways for Alpowered diagnostic tools and robot-assisted surgery technologies.⁸⁵ South Korea has integrated AI and digital health into its regulatory framework under the Ministry of Food and Drug Safety (MFDS). The country has introduced fast-track approval processes for AI-driven diagnostics and mobile health applications. Additionally, South Korea has adopted 5G-powered telemedicine solutions, making remote healthcare more efficient and widely available.⁸⁶ These regional regulatory responses highlight the diverse approaches taken by Asia-Pacific nations in embracing digital health. By refining their regulatory frameworks, these countries aim to balance innovation with patient safety, fostering a robust digital health ecosystem.

5. India's Digital Health Regulatory Framework

India has emerged as a significant player in the digital health revolution, with its government actively promoting telemedicine and digital healthcare services. The Indian government launched the National Digital Health Mission (NDHM), now known as the Ayushman Bharat Digital Mission (ABDM), to create an integrated digital health ecosystem.⁸⁷ This initiative aims to standardize electronic health records (EHRs), facilitate interoperability, and enhance accessibility to healthcare services across the country.

Telemedicine in India has seen a dramatic rise, particularly after the COVID-19 pandemic. The Ministry of Health and Family Welfare (MoHFW), in collaboration with the NITI Aayog, introduced the Telemedicine Practice Guidelines in 2020. These guidelines established a legal framework for doctors to consult patients remotely via video, audio, and text-based platforms. This policy has helped expand healthcare services to remote areas where traditional healthcare infrastructure is lacking.⁸⁸

KEY REGULATORY CHALLENGES:

- Data Privacy and Security: One of the most significant regulatory challenges in digital health is ensuring robust data privacy and security.⁸⁹ Digital health technologies collect, store, and process vast amounts of sensitive patient data, raising concerns about unauthorized access, data breaches, and misuse. Compliance with regulations such as GDPR in the EU and HIPAA in the U.S. is essential, but the rapid evolution of cyber threats necessitates continuous updates to security frameworks.⁹⁰ Regulatory agencies must enforce stringent cybersecurity measures while ensuring interoperability between healthcare systems.
- Standardization and Interoperability: The lack of standardization in digital health technologies poses a major hurdle in ensuring interoperability across healthcare systems.⁹¹ Different regions and regulatory bodies follow varied standards, leading to inconsistencies in data sharing and communication between digital health platforms. Establishing global regulatory harmonization is crucial to facilitating seamless integration and accessibility of digital health solutions across borders.⁹²
- Ethical AI Use and Algorithm Bias: AI-driven diagnostics and decision-making tools have introduced ethical concerns, particularly regarding algorithm bias and transparency. AI models trained on biased datasets can result in inaccurate or discriminatory healthcare



decisions.⁹³ Regulatory bodies must establish clear guidelines for AI validation, emphasizing fairness, explainability, and accountability. Additionally, ongoing audits and human oversight should be mandatory to ensure AI-driven solutions remain ethical and effective.⁹⁴

- Legal and Liability Issues: The introduction of digital health and telemedicine has created new legal and liability concerns.⁹⁵ Questions arise regarding accountability in cases where Al-driven diagnostics provide incorrect recommendations or where remote consultations result in medical misdiagnoses. Regulations need to clarify the roles and responsibilities of healthcare providers, technology developers, and insurers in mitigating legal risks.⁹⁶
- Patient Access and Digital Divide: Despite the promise of digital health, disparities in access remain a challenge.⁹⁷ Regulatory policies should focus on bridging this digital divide through targeted investments and incentives to expand digital health access in underprivileged areas.⁹⁸

FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. **Development of Global Regulatory Standards:** International collaboration is necessary to ensure consistency in digital health regulations.⁹⁹ In partnership with regional regulatory bodies, the World Health Organization (WHO) should work toward establishing universal digital health guidelines. Standardizing regulatory frameworks will streamline approval processes and promote the global adoption of safe and effective digital health solutions.¹⁰⁰

2. **Strengthening Cybersecurity Measures**: With cyber threats evolving rapidly, regulatory frameworks must incorporate stringent cybersecurity standards.¹⁰¹ Governments and regulatory agencies must mandate encryption, multi-factor authentication, and real-time threat detection for digital health platforms. Additionally, organizations should undergo regular cybersecurity audits to ensure compliance with updated security protocols.¹⁰²

3. Al Regulation and Ethical Frameworks: Al in healthcare requires dedicated regulatory oversight to ensure ethical usage and minimize bias.¹⁰³ Future regulations should mandate transparency in Al model development, requiring developers to disclose training data sources, algorithm decision-making processes, and ongoing performance monitoring. Human oversight should remain a critical component in Al-driven healthcare applications to ensure safety and accountability.¹⁰⁴

4. **Public-Private Partnerships for Innovation:** Collaboration between regulatory agencies, healthcare providers, and technology developers is essential to foster innovation while maintaining compliance.¹⁰⁵ Governments should incentivize public-private partnerships to develop regulatory sandboxes—controlled environments where digital health technologies can be tested before full-scale implementation. These initiatives will help regulators stay ahead of technological advancements.¹⁰⁶

5. **Improving Accessibility and Digital Health Literacy:** To bridge the digital divide, future policies should focus on increasing access to digital health technologies for underserved populations. Governments should invest in infrastructure improvements, provide subsidies for telemedicine services, and launch digital health literacy programs to educate patients and healthcare providers on the effective use of digital health solutions.¹⁰⁷

CONCLUSION

Digital health and telemedicine are transforming global healthcare by enhancing accessibility, efficiency, and personalized care. However, these advancements introduce regulatory challenges requiring oversight to ensure patient safety and ethical use.¹⁰⁸ Regulatory bodies must balance innovation with essential safeguards. To keep pace with technology, agencies like the FDA, EMA, and WHO have updated frameworks addressing AI-driven diagnostics, telemedicine, and mobile health applications.¹⁰⁹ Harmonized international standards are essential to streamline approvals and facilitate cross-border collaboration.¹¹⁰ Regulations like HIPAA and GDPR enforce stringent cybersecurity measures, including encryption and real-time monitoring.⁴⁶ Continuous policy updates are necessary to counter evolving cyber threats. AI in healthcare demands ethical scrutiny. Algorithmic bias, transparency, and accountability must be addressed through regulatory mandates that ensure fairness and explainability.⁹³ Developers should disclose training data, decision-making processes, and validation methods. Addressing the digital divide is vital. Telemedicine benefits are limited in underserved regions facing inadequate infrastructure and digital illiteracy. Future policies should prioritize equitable access through telehealth investments, digital literacy programs, and provider incentives. Publicprivate partnerships can drive innovation.⁵⁹ Regulatory sandboxes-controlled environments for testing digital health solutions-allow regulators to assess safety and efficacy before large-scale implementation. Cybersecurity must remain a priority, with mandatory audits and the adoption of emerging technologies like blockchain and Aldriven threat detection.⁸¹ Flexible and adaptive regulatory frameworks will ensure digital health's successful integration. Policymakers must engage stakeholders, promote international cooperation, and implement responsive regulations to maximize the benefits of digital transformation while protecting public health.⁷⁸

Source of Support: The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article

Conflict of Interest: The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.



REFERENCES

- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Digital Health Regulatory Policies, FDA, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/digital-health</u>
- 2. European Medicines Agency (EMA), Regulating Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare, EMA, 2023. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en
- World Health Organization (WHO), Ethics and Governance of Artificial Intelligence for Health, WHO, 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240029200</u>
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Software as a Medical Device (SaMD): Clinical Evaluation Guidance, FDA, 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/119722/download</u>
- European Commission, Digital Health and Artificial Intelligence: Policy and Regulations, European Commission, 2022. Available from: <u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/ehealth</u>
- Benjamens S, Dhunnoo P, Meskó B, The state of artificial intelligence-based FDA-approved medical devices and algorithms: an online database, npj Digit Med, 2020;3:118. DOI: <u>10.1038/s41746-020-00324-0</u>; PMID: 33282595.
- Benjamens S, Dhunnoo P, Meskó B, The state of artificial intelligence-based FDA-approved medical devices and algorithms: an online database, npj Digit Med, 2020;3:118. DOI: <u>10.1038/s41746-020-00324-0</u>; PMID: 33282595.
- World Health Organization (WHO), Global Strategy on Digital Health 2020-2025, WHO, 2021. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240020924</u>
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Digital Health, FDA, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/digital-health</u>
- 10. European Medicines Agency (EMA). Digital Transformation in Healthcare. EMA, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-regulatory/research-</u> <u>development/digital-transformation</u>
- 11. Topol E, The Creative Destruction of Medicine: How the Digital Revolution Will Create Better Health Care, Basic Books, 2012.
- Raghupathi W, Raghupathi V, Big data analytics in healthcare: promise and potential, *Health Inf Sci Syst*, 2014;2(3). DOI: <u>10.1186/2047-2501-2-3</u>; PMID: 25825667.
- Kvedar J, Coye MJ, Everett W, Connected health: a review of technologies and strategies to improve patient care with telemedicine and telehealth, *Health Aff (Millwood)*, 2014;33(2):194–199. DOI: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0992</u>; PMID: 24493760.
- Bashshur RL, Shannon GW, Smith BR, Alverson DC, Antoniotti N, Barsan WG, et al., The empirical foundations of telemedicine interventions in primary care, *Telemed J E Health*, 2014;20(5):345– 392. DOI: <u>10.1089/tmj.2016.0045</u>; PMID: 24841220.
- Kruse CS, Krowski N, Rodriguez B, Tran L, Vela J, Brooks M, Telehealth and patient satisfaction: a systematic review and narrative analysis, *BMJ Open*, 2017;7(8):e016242. DOI: <u>10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016242</u>; PMID: 28775188.
- Ohannessian R, Duong TA, Odone A, Global telemedicine implementation and integration within health systems to fight the COVID-19 pandemic: a call to action, *JMIR Public Health Surveill*, 2020;6(2): e18810. DOI: <u>10.2196/18810</u>; PMID: 32238336.
- 17. European Commission, EU Digital Health and Care, European Commission, 2023. Available from: <u>https://digital-</u> <u>strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/ehealth</u>
- The General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), EU GDPR Portal, 2018. Available from: <u>https://gdpr-info.eu</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO), Consolidated Telemedicine Implementation Guide, WHO, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/consolidated-</u> <u>telemedicine-implementation-guide</u>

- 20. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Health Information Privacy, HHS, 2023. Available from: https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/index.html
- 21. Indian Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Telemedicine Practice Guidelines, *Ministry of Health and Family Welfare*, 2020. Available from: <u>https://www.mohfw.gov.in/pdf/Telemedicine.pdf</u>
- Asia Pacific Medical Technology Association (APACMed), Digital Health Policy and Regulatory Landscape in Asia-Pacific, APACMed, 2022. Available from: <u>https://apacmed.org/insights/digital-healthpolicy/</u>
- 23. Japan Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (MHLW), Telemedicine Guidelines for Japan, *MHLW*, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/english/policy/health-</u> <u>medical/telemedicine-guidelines.html</u>
- 24. China National Health Commission, Telemedicine Services and Regulations in China, *National Health Commission*, 2023. Available from: <u>http://en.nhc.gov.cn/2023-telemedicine-guidelines.html</u>
- 25. European Commission, eHealth Action Plan 2012-2020, European Union eHealth Action Plan, 2012. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/digital-strategy/policies/ehealth
- 26. World Bank, Digital in Health: Unlocking the Value for Everyone, *World Bank*, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/health/publication/digital-in-health</u>
- 27. National Health Service (NHS) UK, The NHS Long Term Plan and Digital Health Strategy, *NHS*, 2019. Available from: <u>https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/</u>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), Telehealth: Delivering Care Safely During COVID-19, HHS, 2023. Available from: <u>https://telehealth.hhs.gov/</u>
- 29. European Commission, Artificial Intelligence in Healthcare and Regulation, *European Commission*, 2023. Available from: https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/library/ai-healthcare
- International Telecommunication Union (ITU), Global Digital Health Partnership, *ITU*, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-T/extcoop/gdhp/Pages/default.aspx</u>
- Frost & Sullivan, Growth Opportunities in Digital Health, Frost & Sullivan, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.frost.com/frost-perspectives/digital-healthcare-trends/</u>
- Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), Digital Health Regulatory Landscape in the Asia-Pacific Region, *APEC Health Working Group*, Singapore: APEC; 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.apec.org</u>
- Asia-Pacific Medical Technology Association (APACMed), APACMed Digital Health Committee Annual Report, *APACMed*, Singapore: APACMed; 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.apacmed.org</u>
- Japan Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (MHLW), Guidelines for Telemedicine in Japan, *MHLW*, Tokyo: MHLW; 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO), WHO Guidelines on Digital Health Interoperability, WHO, Geneva: WHO; 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/digital-health</u>
- Statista, Statista The Statistics Portal, Statista, [cited 2025 Mar 20]. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com</u>
- Statista, Telemedicine Market Size Projections Worldwide by 2030, Statista, Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com</u>
- Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India, National Telemedicine Network (NTN), *Ministry of Health and Family Welfare*, 2023. Available from: <u>https://nhsrcindia.org/sites/default/files/202208/National Teleme</u> <u>dicine_Network.pdf</u>
- Indian Space Research Organisation (ISRO), ISRO Telemedicine Programme, ISRO, 2023. Available from: <u>https://www.isro.gov.in/Telemedicine.html</u>



International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research

Available online at www.globalresearchonline.net

©Copyright protected. Unauthorised republication, reproduction, distribution, dissemination and copying of this document in whole or in part is strictly prohibited.

- 40. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India, eSanjeevani - National Telemedicine Service, *Ministry of Health and Family Welfare*, 2023. Available from: <u>https://esanjeevani.in/</u>
- 41. National Health Authority, Government of India. *National Digital Health Mission (NDHM)*. New Delhi: Government of India; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://ndhm.gov.in/</u>
- Frost & Sullivan. Digital Health Market in India. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.frost.com/frostperspectives/digital-healthcare-trends/</u>
- National Health Authority, Government of India. Ayushman Bharat Digital Mission (ABDM). New Delhi: Government of India; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://abdm.gov.in/</u>
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Evaluating Clinical Applications of Telemedicine. *Telemedicine: A Guide to Assessing Telecommunications in Health Care*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US); 1996 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK45445/</u>
- 45. NASA. STARPAHC: Space Technology Applied to Rural Papago Advanced Health Care. 1978 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://history.nasa.gov/SP-4217/ch9.htm
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (HHS). Summary of the HIPAA Privacy Rule. 2013 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/laws-</u> regulations/index.html
- 47. HealthIT.gov. *HITECH Act Enforcement Interim Final Rule*. 2013 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/hitechact-</u> <u>enforcementifr.pdf</u>
- FDA. Digital Health Innovation Action Plan. 2017 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/106331/download</u>
- 49. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). CARES Act: Telehealth Expansion. 2020 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/medicaretelemedicine-health-care-provider-fact-sheet
- American Telemedicine Association. *Telehealth policy changes and recommendations*. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.americantelemed.org/policy/
- 51. European Commission. *Digital health and care: Overview*. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/health/digital-health_en
- 52. European Commission. *eHealth Action Plan 2012-2020: Innovative healthcare for the 21st century*. 2012 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/digital-strategy/en/policies/ehealthaction-plan</u>
- NHS Digital. NHS Digital Transformation Strategy. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/services/nhs-digital-transformation</u>
- Federal Ministry of Health Germany. *The Digital Healthcare Act* (*DVG*). 2019 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.bundesgesundheitsministerium.de/en/topics/digital-healthcare-act.html</u>
- 55. French Ministry of Solidarity and Health. *Telemedicine and digital health in France*. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://solidarites-sante.gouv.fr/
- 56. European Commission. *European Health Data Space (EHDS).* 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://health.ec.europa.eu/european-health-data-space en
- 57. Lee J. *Digital health landscape in Asia: Trends and innovations*. Asian Digital Health Review. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.asiadigitalhealthreview.com/trends</u>
- National Health Commission of China. *Healthy China 2030 initiative*.
 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: http://en.nhc.gov.cn/HealthyChina2030
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan. Japan's telemedicine and robotic healthcare innovations. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/english/</u>

- ASEAN Secretariat. Digital health advancements in Southeast Asia.
 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://asean.org/digital-health</u>
- 61. Smart Nation Singapore. *Al and IoT-driven healthcare under Smart Nation initiative*. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.smartnation.gov.sg</u>
- 62. Ministry of Health Malaysia. *MyHealth Online portal for digital healthcare services*. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.myhealth.gov.my</u>
- 63. World Bank. Digital health in developing Asia: Opportunities and challenges. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/region/eap
- 64. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Digital health innovation action plan*. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/media/106331/download
- 65. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Advancing digital health technologies. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/digital-health-centerexcellence
- 66. FDA Digital Health Center of Excellence. *About the center*. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/digitalhealth/digital-health-center-excellence</u>
- 67. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Digital Health Precertification* (*Pre-Cert*) *Program*. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/digital-health/digital-health-precertificationpre-cert-program
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Al/ML-based software regulatory framework*. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/media/145022/download
- FDA. Artificial intelligence in medical devices. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/science-research/artificial-intelligence</u>
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Remote monitoring and connected devices guidance*. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/media/147688/download</u>
- 71. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. *Telehealth services during COVID-19.* 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.cms.gov/telehealth</u>
- 72. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *Patient-centered digital health policies*. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/patient-centered-digital-health</u>
- FDA. Ethical AI and international digital health standards. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/ethical-ai</u>
- 74. European Medicines Agency. Digital health and regulatory support. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/human-</u> regulatory/overview/digital-health
- European Union. Medical Device Regulation (MDR) and In Vitro Diagnostic Regulation (IVDR). 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/health/mdr_ivdr/overview_en</u>
- 76. European Medicines Agency. Artificial Intelligence and Big Data in Healthcare: Regulatory consideration. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/ai-big-data-healthcare</u>
- 77. European Commission. *E-Health Network and Digital Health Strategy*. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://digital-</u> <u>strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/ehealth-network</u>
- European Medicines Agency. Cybersecurity for digital health products. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/cybersecurity-healthcare</u>
- European Medicines Agency. Future directions in digital health regulation. 2024 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/future-digital-health</u>



International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research

Available online at www.globalresearchonline.net

©Copyright protected. Unauthorised republication, reproduction, distribution, dissemination and copying of this document in whole or in part is strictly prohibited.

- World Health Organization. WHO digital health guidelines and recommendations. Geneva: WHO; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/digital-health</u>
- 81. World Health Organization. *Cybersecurity and digital health:* ensuring data protection. Geneva: WHO; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/cybersecurity-digital-</u> health
- 82. World Health Organization. *Digital health in the Asia-Pacific region: current status and regulatory landscape*. Geneva: WHO; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/digital-health-asia-pacific</u>
- National Medical Products Administration. Guidelines for Al Medical Software. Beijing: NMPA; 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.nmpa.gov.cn/Al Medical Software Guidelines
- 84. National People's Congress. Personal Information Protection Law (PIPL). Beijing: NPC; 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>http://www.npc.gov.cn/englishnpc/c23934/202108/1b3b09d5cf9b</u> <u>4ebc88e33e5a7f4b1f7d.shtml</u>
- Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency. *Regulatory Framework for AI in Healthcare*. Tokyo: PMDA; 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.pmda.go.jp/english/review-services/ai-regulation</u>
- Korea Communications Commission. 5G-powered Telemedicine Implementation Report. Seoul: KCC; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.kcc.go.kr/telemedicine-5g</u>
- National Health Authority. Ayushman Bharat Digital Mission: Transforming India's Digital Health Ecosystem. New Delhi: NHA; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://abdm.gov.in</u>
- Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. *Telemedicine Practice Guidelines: Enabling Registered Medical Practitioners to Provide Healthcare Using Telemedicine*. New Delhi: MoHFW; 2020 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.mohfw.gov.in/pdf/Telemedicine.pdf
- European Parliament and Council of the European Union. *General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)*. 2016 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2016/679/oj</u>
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. *Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)*. 1996 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/index.html</u>
- 91. ISO. *ISO* 13131:2021 *Health Informatics Telehealth Services Quality Planning Guidelines*. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/79436.html</u>
- 92. OECD. *Digital Health: Mapping the Policy Landscape*. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.oecd.org/health/digital-health.htm</u>
- 93. McKinsey & Company. *The Ethical Challenges of AI in Healthcare*. 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare/our-</u> insights/the-ethical-challenges-of-ai-in-healthcare
- 94. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning in Software as a Medical Device. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/software-medical-device-samd/artificial-intelligence-andmachine-learning-software-medical-device</u>
- 95.American Bar Association. Legal Issues in Telehealth. 2022 [cited
2025Compared and the compared and t

https://www.americanbar.org/groups/health_law/publications/hea https://www.americanbar.org/groups/health_law/publications/health/

- 96. European Commission. *Al Liability Directive*. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 22 57 28
- 97. Pew Research Center. *Digital Divide Persists in Telehealth Adoption*. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/06/22/digital-</u> <u>divide-persists-in-telehealth-adoption/</u>
- 98. World Bank. Bridging the Digital Divide in Healthcare. 2021 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2021/06/23/bridgin g-the-digital-divide-in-healthcare
- International Telecommunication Union. Digital Inclusion in Healthcare. 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Digital-Inclusion/Pages/default.aspx</u>
- 100. European Medicines Agency. *Regulatory Science Strategy to 2025*. Amsterdam: EMA; 2020 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/regulatory-proceduralguideline/regulatory-science-strategy-2025_en.pdf
- Cybersecurity & Infrastructure Security Agency. Healthcare and Public Health Cybersecurity Best Practices. Washington, DC: CISA; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.cisa.gov/resourcestools/resources/healthcare-and-public-health-sector</u>
- National Institute of Standards and Technology. Cybersecurity Framework. Gaithersburg, MD: NIST; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.nist.gov/cyberframework</u>
- 103. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning in Medical Devices. Silver Spring, MD: FDA; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/software-medical-device-samd/artificial-intelligence-andmachine-learning-aiml-enabled-medical-devices</u>
- 104. Deloitte Insights. *Responsible AI in Healthcare*. New York: Deloitte; 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/insights</u>
- 105. World Economic Forum. Public-private Collaboration for Digital Health Innovation. Geneva: WEF; 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.weforum.org/reports
- 106. OECD. Fostering Innovation in Digital Health: Policy Considerations. Paris: OECD; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.oecd.org/health
- 107. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. *Telehealth Policies and Updates*. Baltimore, MD: CMS; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.cms.gov/newsroom
- International Telecommunication Union. Digital Health Readiness Assessment Framework. Geneva: ITU; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://www.itu.int/en/publications</u>
- 109. World Health Organization. *AI in Healthcare: Regulatory Frameworks and Policies*. Geneva: WHO; 2022 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240061736
- 110. International Association of Privacy Professionals. *Blockchain Applications in Healthcare Cybersecurity.* Portsmouth: IAPP; 2023 [cited 2025 Mar 19]. Available from: <u>https://iapp.org/resources/article/blockchain-healthcare-</u> <u>cybersecurity/</u>

For any questions related to this article, please reach us at: globalresearchonline@rediffmail.com New manuscripts for publication can be submitted at: submit@globalresearchonline.net and submit_ijpsrr@rediffmail.com



International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research